A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The information failed to allege an essential non-statutory 

element of felony harassment.  (CP 2) 

2. The court erred in giving jury instruction No. 9: 

To convict the defendant of the crime of Felony 
Harassment of Another – Threat to Kill in Count II, each of 
the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond 
a reasonable doubt: 

Number (1) That on or about September the 18th of 
2009, the defendant knowingly threatened to kill Steven 
Perez immediately or in the future; 
Number (2) That the words or conduct of the defendant 
placed Steven Perez in reasonable fear that the threat to 
kill would be carried out; 
Number (3) That the defendant acted without lawful 
authority; and 
Number (4) That the threat was made or received in the 
State of Washington. 
. . .  

 
(RP 682-83) 

3. The court erred in imposing the firearm sentence 

enhancement.  (CP 184) 

 

B. ISSUES 

1. Under the First and Fourteenth Amendments, is the existence 

of a “true threat” an element of the crime of felony harassment 

that must be alleged in the information and included in the to-

convict jury instruction? 
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2. When a police officer is convicted of a felony and his job-

related possession of a firearm is not involved in the 

commission of the offense, is the evidence sufficient to support 

a firearm sentence enhancement? 

 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 When he was 21 years old, Anthony Hernandez got a job as a 

jailer/dispatcher with the Yakima Nation Police.  (RP 475-76; CP 183)  

After a year-and-a-half he was hired as a police officer with the tribal 

police department.  (RP 476)  In March 2005, he attended the Indian 

Police Academy at the Federal Law Enforcement Training Center in New 

Mexico.  (RP 480) 

 Two months after he was hired, and before attending the police 

academy, he married Miranda Bounds.  (RP 476)  He and Miranda had 

known each other since Anthony was in high school, and they began 

living together in 2001.  (RP 470, 472) 

 Robert Root was a fellow tribal police officer.  (RP 371)  He and 

Anthony were often both on patrol during the night shift.  (RP 378)  

Miranda would often call Anthony and ask him to check on their house 

because she had heard dogs barking, cars driving by, or other sounds that 
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made her uncomfortable.  (RP 242, 379)  If he was busy, he would ask 

Officer Root to drive by and shine a spotlight on the house.  (RP 378-79) 

In 2007, Anthony and Miranda were attending a high school soccer 

game when a baby fell from the bleachers to a concrete floor below.   

(RP 486)  Anthony took charge of the situation and asked a friend to bring 

the infant to him.  (RP 486-87)  When he was handed the child he checked 

for vitals and found the baby had no heart beat and was not breathing.   

(RP 487)  He told his wife to call 911 and began administering CPR.   

(RP 487)  He continued CPR until the ambulance arrived and ultimately 

the child lived.  (RP 488) 

But the experience was very traumatic for Miranda so she sought 

psychological counseling.  (RP 488)  This eventually led to marriage 

counseling for both of them.  (RP 489) 

In May 2008, Miranda telephoned her husband while he was at 

work.  (RP 498)  When he answered he heard her screaming and crying 

but he couldn’t understand what she was saying.  (RP 499)  Finally when 

he asked her what was wrong she told him she just wanted to die, he heard 

glass breaking, and she hung up.  (RP 500)  Anthony had just been 

dispatched to a crime scene, so he called Toppenish City Police, explained 

the situation, and asked them to check on his wife.  (RP 500-501) 
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Minutes later the Toppenish dispatcher called to tell him that 

officers at the house could hear his wife crying, and could see guns lying 

on the floor, but Mrs. Hernandez would not come to the door.  (RP 502)  

Anthony authorized them to kick in the door, and later received a call from 

a Yakima deputy sheriff indicating Miranda had been taken to the hospital.  

(RP 503) 

When she returned home from the hospital Miranda expressed 

anger at Anthony because she felt he cared about his job more than he 

cared about her.  (RP 505-07)  Thereafter the marriage deteriorated and  

in July 2009, Anthony moved home to live with his parents.  (RP 508, 

515-16) 

After the separation, Anthony continued to come to his home every 

morning to feed his dog before going to work.  (RP 519)  He had a key to 

the front door, and would let himself in, get the dog food from the pantry 

and go out back to feed his dog.  (RP 520-21)  Sometimes he would talk 

briefly with Miranda and occasionally use the bathroom off the master 

bedroom.  (RP 521-22) 

On the evening of September 17, 2009, Miranda called Anthony 

and told him he needed to pick up some bills at the house; he said he 

would do that in the morning.  (RP 523)  The next morning, after feeding 
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his dog, Anthony could not find the mail so he knocked on the bedroom 

door and said “It’s Anthony, I’m here to get my mail.”  (RP 530-31) 

Miranda told him to meet her in the kitchen, but as he was walking 

toward the kitchen he thought he heard her say something in an excited 

voice.  (RP 531)  He went back towards the bedroom door and asked her if 

she was all right and she said “no.”  (RP 531) 

Believing Miranda was in trouble, Anthony drew his pistol, told 

Miranda he was going to kick the door in, and when she did not respond, 

he did so.  (RP 531-32)  He checked the room for possible threats, then 

entered the bathroom, where he found a young man standing in the 

shower.  (RP 532-35) 

Anthony raised his gun, told the young man to show his hands, 

then ordered him to the floor, handcuffed him and holstered his weapon.  

(RP 68, 535-36)  At that moment Miranda came into the bathroom and 

Anthony saw blood on her face.  (RP 536)  He got a wet washcloth, took 

her back to the bedroom, and when he saw a gash on her face he became 

angry and told her “I’m gonna fucking kill him.”  (RP 537)  But, Miranda 

told him he had injured her when he kicked in the door.  (RP 537) 

Anthony returned to the bathroom, asked the young man who he 

was, checked his identification, removed the handcuffs and ordered him to 
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leave the house.  (RP 539)  The young man was Steven Perez.  (RP 47,  

63-77, 540) 

While Anthony was taking Miranda to the hospital, Mr. Perez got a 

ride to the home of Zillah Police Sergeant Tim Quantrell.  (RP 81)  Mr. 

Perez is the stepson of Zillah Police Chief Dave Simmons, and considered 

Sergeant Quantrell a family friend.  (RP 81, 175)  After telling Sergeant 

Quantrell what had happened Mr. Perez called his stepfather.  (RP 82-83, 

179)  Chief Simons took his stepson to the Toppenish Police Department 

to report the incident.  (RP 83, 188) 

 The following week, the State charged Anthony with first degree 

kidnapping and felony harassment of Steven Perez and reckless 

endangerment of Miranda.  (CP 1-2)  The felony harassment charge stated: 

On or about September 18, 2009, in the State of 
Washington, without lawful authority, you knowingly 
threatened to cause bodily injury immediately or in the 
future to Steven J, Perez and the threat to cause bodily 
injury consisted of a threat to kill Steven J. Perez or another 
person, and did by words or conduct place the person 
threatened in reasonable fear that the threat would be 
carried out. 
Furthermore, when you committed the crime, you (or an 
accomplice) were armed with a firearm, and your penalty 
will be increased.  (RCW 9.94A.533) 
 

(CP 2) 

 Mr. Perez told a jury that he had met Miranda Hernandez in a bar 

on the evening of September 17, and she had invited him to her 
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home.  (RP 51, 58) They had watched part of a movie and had sex until 

they fell asleep around six o’clock in the morning.  (RP 62-63)  He was 

awaked by the sound of knocking. (RP 63)  Miranda told him to leave, so 

he went to hide in the bathroom.  (RP 64-65, 223)  Moments later, Mr. 

Hernandez appeared in the bathroom, pointed a pistol at him, ordered him 

to the floor and handcuffed him. (RP 68) 

 Mr. Perez testified that after handcuffing him Mr. Hernandez 

holstered his weapon and went back to the bedroom and started talking 

with Mrs. Hernandez.  (RP 68)  He told the jury that he overheard Mr. 

Hernandez threatening to kill him, and that when he returned to the 

bathroom he said “he could kill me and probably bury me at Mount 

Adams and get away with it.”  (RP 73) 

 Mrs. Hernandez testified that Mr. Hernandez told her “I’m gonna 

kill him” and she heard him repeatedly threaten to kill Mr. Perez.   

(RP 229) 

 The court instructed the jury on the statutory elements of felony 

harassment: 

Instruction Number “9”. To convict the defendant of the 
crime of Felony Harassment of Another – Threat to Kill in 
Count II, each of the following elements of the crime must be 
proved beyond a reasonable doubt: 

Number (1) That on or about September the 18th of 2009, 
the defendant knowingly threatened to kill Steven Perez 
immediately or in the future; 
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Number (2) That the words or conduct of the defendant 
placed Steven Perez in reasonable fear that the threat to 
kill would be carried out; 
Number (3) That the defendant acted without lawful 
authority; and 
Number (4) That the threat was made or received in the 
State of Washington. 
 

(RP 682-83) 

The court instructed the jury on the definition of the term “threat:” 

Threat means to communicate directly or indirectly the intent 
to cause bodily injury in the future to the person threatened or 
to any other person. To be a threat the statement or act must 
occur in a context or under such circumstances where a 
reasonable person in the position of the speaker would 
foresee that the statement or act would be interpreted as, as a 
serious expression of intention to carry out the threat. 
 

(RP 684) 

Defense counsel proposed several alternative jury instructions 

defining the term “threat” to expressly exclude “spontaneous” or “self-

expressive” speech.  (CP 120-25; RP 670)  The court declined to give any 

of the proposed alternatives.  (RP 671-72) 

 The court instructed the jury that as to the firearm enhancement: 

For the purpose of Special Verdict Forms I and II the State 
must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant 
was armed with a firearm at the time of the commission of 
the crime in Count I and in Count II. A firearm is a weapon 
or device from which a proj, projectile may be fired by an 
explosive such as gunpowder. 

 
(RP 689-90) 
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During deliberations, the jury sent an inquiry asking the court to 

define “armed with a firearm.”  (CP 156)  The court responded, “please 

read the instructions.”  (CP 156) 

The jury acquitted Mr. Hernandez of kidnapping and reckless 

endangerment, but found him guilty of felony harassment and decided that 

he was armed with a firearm at the time he committed the offense.  

(CP 157-61) 

 

D. ARGUMENT 

1. FAILURE TO INCLUDE THE “TRUE THREAT” 
ELEMENT OF FELONY HARRASSMENT IN 
THE INFORMATION AND “TO CONVICT” 
INSTRUCTION VIOLATED DUE PROCESS. 

 
All facts essential to punishment, including non-statutory elements, 

must be pleaded in the charging document and proved beyond reasonable 

doubt.  U.S. Const. Amend XIV; Const. Art I, § 3; Henderson v. Morgan, 

426 U.S. 637 (1976); State v. Goodman, 150 Wn.2d 774, 784, 83 P.3d 410 

(2004).   

Notice of the nature of the charge is “the first and most universally 

recognized requirement of due process.”  426 U.S. at 645.  The defendant 

must be made “aware of the acts and the requisite state of mind in which 
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they must be performed to constitute a crime.”  State v. Osborne,  

102 Wn.2d 87, 93, 684 P.2d 683 (1984). 

Likewise, the “to convict” instruction must contain all the  

elements essential to the conviction.  State v. Smith, 131 Wn.2d 258, 263, 

930 P.2d 917 (1997).  The court “may not rely on other instructions to 

supply the element missing from the ‘to convict’ instruction.” 

State v. DeRyke, 149 Wn.2d 906, 910, 73 P.3d 1000 (2003). 

The question whether the existence of a “true threat” is an element 

of the crime of felony harassment that must be alleged in the information 

and included in the to-convict jury instruction is currently before the 

Washington State Supreme Court.  State v. Allen, 161 Wn. App. 727,  

255 P.3d 784, review granted 172 Wn.2d 1014, 262 P.3d 63 (2011). 

“A statute that criminalizes pure speech must be interpreted with 

the commands of the First Amendment clearly in mind.”  State v. Kilburn, 

151 Wn.2d 36, 41, 84 P.3d 1215 (2004).  To “avoid unconstitutional 

infringement of protected speech, RCW 9A.46.020(1)(a)(i) must be read 

as clearly prohibiting only ‘true threats.’”  151 Wn. 2d at 43.   

Federal courts have held that the existence of a true threat is an 

essential element of an offense criminalizing threatening speech.  

U.S. v. Bagdasarian, 652 F.3d 1113, 1118 (C.A.9 2011) (construing 
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18 U.S.C. § 879(a)(3)); U.S. v. Fuller, 387 F.3d 643, 647 (C.A.7 

2004)(construing 18 U.S.C. § 115)  

 
2. EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT 

THE FIREARM ENHANCEMENT. 
 
 A person is “armed” if the firearm is “easily accessible and readily 

available for use, either for offensive or defensive purposes.” 

State v. Valdobinos, 122 Wn.2d 270, 282, 858 P.2d 199 (1993).  But, 

additionally, there must be a connection or nexus between the defendant, 

the crime, and the weapon.  State v. Eckenrode, 159 Wn.2d 488, 490-91, 

150 P.3d 1116 (2007).  To establish such a nexus, there must be evidence 

that the accused possessed the firearm with an intent and willingness to 

use it in the commission of the offense.  State v. Brown, 162 Wn.2d 422, 

432, 173 P.3d 245 (2007). 

 The mere “[s]howing that a weapon accessible during a crime does 

not necessarily show a nexus between the crime and the weapon.”  Id.  

When reviewing the nexus requirement, we examine “the nature of the 

crime, the type of weapon, and the circumstances under which the weapon 

is found.”  State v. Gurske, 155 Wn.2d 134, 142, 118 P.3d 333 (2005) 

(quoting State v. Schelin, 147 Wn.2d 562, 570, 55 P.3d 632 (2002) 

(plurality)). 
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 The circumstances in the present case are utterly inconsistent with 

application of the rationale that supports the weapons enhancement 

statute:  

The theory behind the deadly weapon enhancement is that a 
crime is potentially more dangerous to the victim, 
bystanders or the police if the defendant is armed while he 
is committing the crime because someone may be killed or 
injured. Thus, the crime is more serious than it would have 
been without the weapon. Where no officers, victims or 
bystanders are present, the potential danger is also absent, 
and the rationale for greater punishment based on greater 
danger to others does not apply. The underlying rationale 
can apply only where there is a possibility the defendant 
would use the weapon. 

 
State v. Johnson, 94 Wn. App. 882, 896, 974 P.2d 855 (1999). 

 When the accused possesses a weapon for reasons unrelated to the 

commission of the weapon, the facts may not justify a weapon 

enhancement.  State v. Easterlin, 159 Wn.2d 203, 208-209, 149 P.3d 366 

(2006). 

For example, if a defendant is in possession of a ceremonial 
weapon, such as a Sikh’s kirpan that he is required to carry 
by religious commandment, or of a prop, or of a kitchen 
knife in a picnic basket, or is a farmer who carries a .22 
caliber rifle in a gun rack, or has some object that merely 
could be used as a weapon, it may be appropriate to allow 
him to argue to the trier of fact that he is not “armed” as 
meant by Washington law and to allow the trier of fact to 
make that determination. 

 
159 Wash.2d at 209, n.3.  Here, the evidence established that Mr. 

Hernandez was armed because he was a tribal police officer, in uniform, 
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and on duty.  The legislature cannot have contemplated that protection of 

potential victims, bystanders and police officers would be furthered by 

imposing greater punishment on police officers who are convicted of 

felonies because their job requires them to carry a weapon. 

 The jury acquitted Mr. Hernandez of kidnapping and reckless 

endangerment because it recognized that he was acting in accordance with 

his training as a police officer in dealing with what he believed to be a 

potentially dangerous scenario.  The jury probably found Mr. Hernandez 

guilty of felony harassment in part because it concluded Mr. Perez was 

indeed terrified by the entire situation, and any statement that he was 

going to kill someone because his wife had been either injured or 

unfaithful was not within the scope of Mr. Hernandez’s employment as an 

officer.  Thus, the jury recognized that when Mr. Hernandez pointed his 

weapon at Mr. Perez, ordered him to the ground and handcuffed him, he 

was not guilty of kidnapping because he was acting as a police officer. 

 The deadly weapon issue was more difficult for the jury because, 

while Mr. Hernandez was undoubtedly armed with a pistol at the time he 

threatened to kill Mr. Perez, there was no evidence he intended to use the 

weapon to facilitate the threat.  It is undisputed that he holstered his 

weapon as soon as he had placed Mr. Perez in handcuffs and never drew it 

again.  So the jury asked the court to further define the term “armed with a 
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deadly weapon” in hopes of receiving some guidance as to how this 

dilemma should be resolved.  Had the jury been aware that, as a matter of 

law, there must be a nexus between the weapon and the crime, it would 

not have found that Mr. Hernandez was armed with a firearm. 

 There was no evidence that Mr. Hernandez was armed with a 

firearm, as that concept is understood in our state law.  The sentence 

enhancement predicated on Mr. Hernandez’s possession of his duty 

weapon should be vacated. 

 

E. CONCLUSION 

 The harassment conviction should be reversed and dismissed.  

Alternatively, the sentence enhancement should be vacated.