NO. 30397-7-III

FILED Aug 02, 2013 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY J. HERNANDEZ, JR.,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

David B. Trefry WSBA #16050 Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JAMES P. HAGARTY Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. ISSUES PRESENTED BY ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

Appellant makes two assignments of error they can be

summarized as follows;

- 1. The State failed to include "true threat" as an element of the crime charged.
- 2. There was insufficient evidence to support the firearm enhancement.
- B. ANSWERS TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.
- 1. This issue was decided in State v. Allen, 294 P.3d 679 (Wash. 2013).
- 2. There was sufficient evidence to support the firearm enhancement.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The substantive and procedural facts have been adequately set

forth in appellants brief therefore, pursuant to RAP 10.3(b); the State shall

not set forth an additional facts section. The State shall refer to the record as needed.

III. ARGUMENT.

RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR ONE – TRUE THREAT.

The first issue raised by Mr. Hernandez was recently decided in

State v. Allen, 294 P.3d 679 (Wash. 2013). The Washington State

Supreme Court in <u>Allen</u> determined that:

We have never held the true threat requirement to be an essential element of a harassment statute. In <u>State v. Jo</u>hnston, 156 Wash.2d 355, 127 P.3d 707 (2006), we found that Washington's bomb threat statute, RCW 9.61.160, reached a substantial amount of protected speech. We therefore construed the statute to avoid an overbreadth problem by limiting it to true threats. We held the trial court erred by giving an instruction that defined " true threat" in terms of the reasonable listener-based standard, rather than the reasonable speaker-based standard we adopted in <u>Kilburn. Johnston</u>, 156 Wash.2d at 364, 127 P.3d 707. By so holding, we implied a proper jury instruction defining "true threat" would have been constitutionally sufficient.

...since after Johnston the Washington Pattern Instructions Committee amended the pattern instruction defining threat so that it matched the definition of "true threat." We said that "[c]ases employing the new instruction defining 'threat' will therefore incorporate the constitutional mens rea as to the result." <u>Schaler</u>, 169 Wash.2d at 288 n. 5, 236 P.3d 858. That instruction was used in this case.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals has repeatedly held the true threat requirement is not an essential element of harassment statutes. In <u>State v.</u> <u>Tellez</u>, 141 Wash.App. 479, 170 P.3d 75 (2007), the defendant, charged with felony telephone harassment based on a threat to kill, claimed the information and to-convict instruction were deficient because they lacked the requirement of a true threat, an essential element of the crime. The Court of Appeals agreed with the State that "the constitutional concept of 'true threat' merely defines and limits the scope of the essential threat element in the felony telephone harassment statute and is not itself an essential element of the crime." <u>Tellez</u>, 141 Wash.App. at 484, 170 P.3d 75

...

In this case, Allen argued the First Amendment for the first time on appeal. Under the circumstances, no manifest error affecting a constitutional right occurred. The jury was instructed as to the true threat requirement and Allen's First Amendment rights were protected. Based on Johnston, Schaler, Tellez, and Atkins, we hold failure to include the true threat requirement in the information and to-convict instruction was not error.

This issue has been decided by the Washington State Supreme Court therefore this court does not have to take further action regarding this issue; it need merely follow the precedent set in Allen.

RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR TWO – WEAPONS ENHANCEMENT.

The defendant in this case was a police officer with the Yakima Tribal Police Department. The crime occurred in the city of Toppenish, Washington. (RP 500-1, 503) The only person to testify that Appellant Hernandez was on duty at the time he came to the home of his estranged wife was Appellant. There was no corroboration or confirmation that the officer was officially on duty at the time he committed this crime. There was also no testimony to explain why if this officer was "on duty" at the time of this crime was away from his jurisdiction and doing personal matters such as feeding his dog and checking his mail.

It must be noted that this was not the first time that Appellant's wife had contact with another male during the marriage. This obviously was information in the Appellant's mind as he threatened to kick in his estranged wife's bedroom door. There would appear to have been several instances that indicated to Hernandez that his wife was being unfaithful and yet he stated in his testimony that each time that the found out about these that it did not bother him and that he joked about it with his wife.

This testimony came from the Appellant himself. (RP 482-85, 509-13, 515)

At the time of the commission of this crime Appellant and his wife were separated and living apart. (RP 516-17) Appellant testified that the routine was that he would come to the house at about 8 AM to feed the dogs. That he had a key and he would enter the house through front door and go to the back pantry to get the dog food. (RP 520-22) Mrs. Hernandez had testified that she actually had been feeding the dogs for two weeks prior to this incident. (RP 519-20) Appellant's wife had told him that he needed to come to the house the night before the incident to pick up some bills. (RP 523)

Appellant's jurisdiction was on the Yakima Indian Reservation or "Indian country." (RP 498-99, 526) There was no testimony from any supervisor of Appellant that he was actually on duty on the morning of this crime. The only testimony that was before that court that he was working came from Appellant himself. (RP 526-29)

It note worthy that the Appellant said that he went to the bedroom door of his estranged wife while she was apparently still asleep and instead of knocking he checked the door handle to see if it was locked, it was. (RP 530) When he knocked his wife told him just a minute and then told him to meet her in the kitchen (RP 531) It was after what Appellant

states was a negative response to the question "are you OK" that Appellant literally kicked in the bedroom door.

Appellant pointed his gun at Mr. Perez and handcuffed him on the floor of the bathroom. Then shortly thereafter, Appellant without further explanation as to why this perceived threat, this stranger, this naked man in his shower, was no loner a threat, Hernandez testified that he just uncuffed Perez and told him to put on his clothes and leave. Appellant also testified that he told Perez that "I said you got 3 minutes to get the fuck out of there otherwise you're gonna come with me and I'm gonna drop your ass off at Mount Adams." (RP 540) Corroborating at least a portion of the threat testified to by Mr. Perez and Ms. Hernandez that Appellant had threatened to bury him on Mt Adams. It is also very important that this trained officer who only did what he did because if this perceived threat by this strange naked man never once contacted his dispatch for backup. (RP 598)

Even Appellant's companion, Ms. Bohon, stated that after she was dropped at work by the Appellant she did not know where he was. (RP 421, 425-6, 430)

Once again there is nothing that was testified to on the record that would corroborate that Mr. Hernandez was on shift working. Further, there is nothing on the record that would indicate that anything that he was

doing had anything to do with his employment, he was driving his female companion to her job, he was also texting her, he was texting some person in the dispatch, he was feeding his dog and getting his mail from his house, none of which is any part of acting in the capacity of a commissioned law enforcement officer.

Without lawful authority was defined in jury instructions 8, 9 and 12. This is an essential definition when addressing the issue raise regarding special verdict regarding Appellant's possession of a weapon at the time of the crime. Instruction 12 reads as follows:

A person acts without lawful authority or legal authority when that person's acts are not authorized by law. A public officer, when acting in that capacity, is legally authorized to use some degree of physical coercion or threat thereof in order to effectuate and arrest or investigatory detention.

This Court must also take into account the fact that the trial court submitted instructions 17 and 18 to the jury which set forth a legal basis for an officer to be justified in taking the actions Appellant took. They allow the jury to acquit if they found the facts supported the claim that his actions were lawful. (RP 643, CP 146, 147)

Even if there had been sufficient evidence to support the claim that Appellant was on duty at the time of this offense, the evidence presented would clearly allow the jury to find that the Appellant clearly acting outside the definition and scope of that job so that his possession of the weapon was not allowed or justified by law.

State v. Hernandez, 172 Wn.App. 537,290 P.3d 1052, 1055,

(2012);

When reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, we consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and determine whether any rational trier of fact could have found the crime's essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Williams, 137 Wash.App. 736, 743, 154 P.3d 322 (2007). We draw all reasonable inferences from the evidence in the State's favor and interpret the evidence "most strongly against the defendant.' "State v. Joy, 121 Wash.2d 333, 339, 851 P.2d 654 (1993) (quoting State v. Salinas, 119 Wash.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992)). We consider both circumstantial and direct evidence as equally reliable and defer to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, witness credibility, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. State v. Thomas, 150 Wash.2d 821, 874-75, 83 P.3d 970 (2004).

This issue was not raised in the trial court and Appellant does not

address how it can be raised for the first time on appeal. In the totality of

the trial court record there is no briefing by any party regarding this new

allegation. RAP 2.5:

(a) Errors Raised for First Time on Review. The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court.

This very Court recently addressed, at length, this issue in

State v. Naillieux, 158 Wn.App. 630, 638-9, 241 P.3d 1280 (Wash.App.

Div. 3 2010);

We sit as a court of review which, of course, means that we do not preside over trial proceedings de novo. Our function is to review the validity of claimed errors by a trial judge who presided over a trial. That function assumes that counsel preserve the error by objecting to something the trial judge did or did not do. We do not, and should not, be in the business of retrying these cases. It is a wasteful use of judicial resources. Id. at 344, 835 P.2d 251; State v. Bashaw, 169 Wash.2d 133, 146, 234 P.3d 195 (2010); State v. Labanowski, 117 Wash.2d 405, 420, 816 P.2d 26 (1991). And it encourages skilled counsel to save claims of constitutional error for appeal so a defendant can get a new trial and second chance at a not guilty verdict if the first trial does not end in his favor. Lynn, 67 Wash.App. at 343, 835 P.2d 251. Most errors in a criminal case can be characterized as constitutional. Id. at 342-43, 835 P.2d 251.

The fact that the defendant is an officer does not change the facts, he was armed and nothing in <u>State v. Easterlin</u>, 159 Wn.2d 203, 149 P.3d 366 (Wash. 2006) would allow for this officer to commit a crime while in possession of a weapon and, not receive punishment because he was on duty. There is nothing in this record before this court which would even remotely indicate that the Appellant was required to carry this firearm at the time of the crime. Just as the Washington State Supreme Court ruled in <u>State v. Schelin</u>, 147 Wn.2d 562, 567-68, 55 P.3d 632 (2002) that while the defendant's right to bear arms in his home was constitutionally protected, "that right ceases when the purpose of bearing arms is to further the commission of a crime." <u>Schelin</u>, 147 Wn.2d at 575 so too here, the officers legal right, obligation, requirement to legally carry a weapon ended when he went from being an officer determining what was going on in his estranged wife's home to an angry husband threatening to kill Mr. Perez.

There is no doubt that a police officer carries a gun as part of his duties. There is also no doubt that a police officer does not have a separate right based on that those duties to threaten to kill the man who happens to be sleeping with his wife. Once again there is nothing in this record that would indicate that Mr. Hernandez needed to carry his service weapon to go feed his dogs and get his mail at his own residence. There is nothing about the actions of the Appellant that relate to his job.

Appellant argues citing <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 94 Wn.App. 882, 896, 974 P.2d 855 (1999) that the circumstances of this crime are "inconsistent with the application of the rationale that supports the weapons enhancement. The State would completely disagree. There can be few instances where the possession of a weapon by any criminal would more completely fit the rationale for this enhanced punishment than in a situation were the criminal is an "officer of the law" who has sworn an oath to preserve and protect and while on duty he uses his position of

authority, his training and in this instance his duty weapon to threaten to kill a citizen he has sworn to protect with this life. It would appear that Appellant wants this court to say there is an exception to the weapons enhancement for officers. There is no "officer exception" to the crime of harassment nor to the inclusion of a weapons enhancement, nor does Appellant indicate to the court where in the law such an exception is found. This would beg the question, if a person has a valid concealed weapons permit and they too go to the home of a estranged spouse and they participate in an identical fact scenario, would that person also have the right to argue that they had a legal right to possess that weapon and did so as they often do so therefore they too are not armed?"

Facts sufficient to meet the requirements set forth in <u>O'Neal</u> were presented to the jury. There is no dispute that Mr. Hernandez was in possession at the time of the crime. As was stated in <u>State v. O'Neal</u>, 159 Wn.2d 500, 503-4, 150 P.3d 1121 (2007);

> "A defendant is 'armed' when he or she is within proximity of an easily and readily available deadly weapon for offensive or defensive purposes and when a nexus is established between the defendant, the weapon, and the crime." <u>State v. Schelin</u>, 147 Wash.2d 562, 575-76, 55 P.3d 632 (2002). Since the defendants did not challenge the jury instructions at trial, we limit our inquiry to whether there was sufficient evidence for any rational trier of fact to find beyond a reasonable doubt that one or more of the defendants were armed <u>State v. DeVries</u>, 149 Wash.2d 842,

849, 742 P.3d 748 (2003); <u>State v. Salinas</u>, 119 Wash.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992).

See also, State v. Hernandez, 290 P.3d 1052 (2012):

We have previously held that the "nexus" requirement is not applicable to firearm enhancements when there is actual, not constructive, possession of a firearm. <u>State v.</u> <u>Easterlin</u>, 126 Wash.App. 170, 173, 107 P.3d 773 (2005), review granted & aff'd on other grounds by 159 Wash.2d 203, 149 P.3d 366 (2006) (our Supreme Court has affirmed this concept); see <u>Easterlin</u>, 159 Wash.2d at 209, 149 P.3d 366 (concluding that in actual possession cases, it will rarely be necessary to go beyond the commonly used " readily accessible and easily available" instruction). So even if we were considering a firearm enhancement, a " nexus" finding is not required because the possession was actual, not constructive.

In this instances the crime alleged and proven by the specific facts

of this case necessitate the use of that weapon, the one that Appellant now

alleges he was required to legally carry at the time the crime was

committed. <u>State v. Ague-Masters</u>, 138 Wn.App. 86, 102-3156 P.3d 265

(2007);

Whether a person is armed is a mixed question of law and fact, which we review de novo. <u>State v. Schelin</u>, 147 Wash.2d 562, 565-66, 55 P.3d 632 (2002). "A person is "armed" if a weapon is easily accessible and readily available for use, either for offensive or defensive purposes,' " and there is a connection or nexus between the defendant, the weapon, and the crime. State v. Easterlin, 159 Wash.2d 203, 208-09, 149 P.3d 366 (2006) (quoting <u>State v. Valdobinos</u>, 122 Wash.2d 270, 282, 858 P.2d 199 (1993)); also compare <u>Valdobinos</u>, 122 Wash.2d at 273-74, 282, 858 P.2d 199 (defendant not armed where police arrested him then searched house, finding cocaine under a bed and a rifle under a bed) and <u>State v. Call</u>, 75 Wash.App. 866, 867-69, 880 P.2d 571 (1994) (defendant not armed where he walked into bedroom to get identification and police later found two unloaded guns and a loaded gun in a toolbox in the bedroom) with <u>Schelin</u>, 147 Wash.2d at 564, 574-75, 55 P.3d 632 (defendant armed where police found him at the bottom of stairs six to ten feet away from loaded revolver in a holster hanging on a nail). "[M]ere constructive possession [of a deadly weapon] is insufficient to prove a defendant is "armed" with a deadly weapon during the commission of a crime.' "<u>State v. Gurske</u>, 155 Wash.2d 134, 138, 118 P.3d 333 (2005) (quoting Schelin, 147 Wash.2d at 567, 55 P.3d 632) (internal quotation marks omitted).

While there are a dearth of cases involving an officer committing a

criminal act while armed and on duty the State, for analogy, would cite

this court to State v. Bright, 129 Wn.2d 257, 916 P.2d 922 (1996). In

Bright an officer while on duty and armed raped an inmate whom he was

transporting. The question raised on appeal was whether the officer was

armed such that the State had proven that necessary elements of Rape in

the First Degree.

The Court in Bright found

There is no dispute that a police officer wears a weapon to indicate the officer's intent to use it to assure compliance with an order. The officer need not expressly threaten the targeted person with the weapon. Both the target and the officer know the threat to use the weapon is implied and inherent in the authority of the police. Generally, we consider as benign a police officer's implied threat to use a weapon. That implied threat remains, and even increases, when a police officer wears weapons during commission of a crime. By his knowing decision to remain armed while he assaulted and raped Ms. L., Respondent Bright communicated to his victim his intent to use his weapon if she resisted. From the record in this case we can conclude that Respondent Bright deliberately contrived the factors of the guns, his nonregulation transport of a woman prisoner, his choice of a remote locale, and his use of force--all with the intent to create a situation threatening enough to reduce Ms. L. to helplessness. (Bright at 272, footnote omitted)

Here, as was the case in <u>Bright</u>, Mr. Hernandez chose to go to his estranged wife's house to feed his dog and check on his mail, he chose to do that while allegedly on duty and obviously armed, he chose to determine if the bedroom door was locked, he chose to kick the door in rather than wait as Ms. Hernandez told him to, he chose to not call for backup in a situation where he felt was urgent enough to pull his duty weapon, he suddenly and without explanation released this naked intruder and he chose to threaten the naked intruder with death all the while having in his mind the numerous previous instances of infidelity committed by his wife.

IV. CONCLUSION

The first allegation by Mr. Hernandez has been decided in <u>State v.</u> <u>Allen.</u>

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